IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

NO. SC07-1831

DARRYL BRIAN BARWICK,

Petitioner,

v.

WALTER A. McNEIL,
Secretary, Florida Department of Corrections,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF

D. TODD DOSS
Florida Bar No. 0910384
725 Southeast Baya Drive
Suite 102
Lake City, FL 32025-6092
Telephone (386) 755-9119
Facsimile (386) 755-3181

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Barwick's motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850/3.851. The circuit court denied Mr. Barwick's claims after an evidentiary hearing.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Circuit Court of the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit, Bay County, entered the judgements of conviction and sentence under consideration. On April 28, 1986, a Bay County grand jury indicted Mr. Barwick for first-degree and related offenses. (R. 241-242) After a jury trial, Mr. Barwick was found guilty on November 24, 1986. (R. 652-653) That same day, the jury recommended a sentence of death, by a vote of 9-3, for the first-degree murder conviction. (R. 654) On January 30, 1987 the trial court sentenced Mr. Barwick to death. (R. 680-683)

The Florida Supreme Court, in an opinion dated June 15, 1989, reversed Mr. Barwick's conviction and directed that he be retried. See Barwick v. State, 547 So. 2d 613 (Fla. 1989); (R. 694-696) A second jury trial began on June 22, 1992. (R. 1171) Shortly thereafter, the trial court declared a mistrial. (R. 1183) A third jury trial began on July 6, 1992. (R. 1216-1218) Mr. Barwick was found guilty on July 9, 1992. (R. 1236-1238) On July 16, 1992, the jury recommended a sentence of death. (R. 962) On August 11, 1992, the trial court sentenced Mr. Barwick to death. (R. 1281-1292, 1295-1299)

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Barwick's convictions and sentences. See Barwick v. State, 660 So. 2d 685 (Fla. 1995). The United States Supreme Court denied certiorari on January 22, 1996. See Barwick v. Florida, 116 S. Ct. 823 (1995). On March 14, 1997, Mr. Barwick filed his initial

but incomplete postconviction motion in order to toll the time limits under AEDPA. Mr. Barwick filed his first amended postconviction motion on August 23, 2002. The Court subsequently entered an order granting an evidentiary hearing on claims I, II, III, and X. The trial court summarily denied the other claims, while reserving ruling on the cumulative error claim.

On April 8, 2005, Mr. Barwick filed his second amended motion for post conviction relief. On September 8, 2005 the trial court summarily denied the two additional claims in the second amended motion. On November 2-3, 2006, the trial court held an evidentiary hearing on claims I, II, III, and X. After both parties submitted written closing arguments the trial court denied Barwick's claims in a written order dated August 28, 2007. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Trial counsel was appointed to Mr. Barwick's case on February 5, 1992. (R. 1114) At the time, he was simultaneously representing another defendant charged with first degree murder as he was readying for Mr. Barwick's trial. (R. 1145, volumes preceding trial transcripts) Mr. Barwick's first retrial, which ended in a mistrial, began June 22, 1992, less than five months after trial counsel was appointed. The next retrial, which led to Mr. Barwick's instant death sentence, began on July 6, 1992, just two weeks later. Despite the fact that Mr. Barwick was facing a possible penalty of death, trial counsel waited to request a

confidential expert until June 5, 1992, approximately two weeks before the retrial began. (R. 1150)

Trial counsel essentially relied solely upon the work done by counsel for Mr. Barwick's first trial. As a result, he failed to gather any medical, mental health, school, or other records to develop Mr. Barwick's mitigation case. Additionally, rather than presenting his own mental health experts, trial counsel called or attempted to call experts who had not done any work on the case for several years, and did virtually nothing to prepare those experts. (R. 674; 737; 846; 1227)

Trial counsel compounded his failures by subsequently putting these experts on during the penalty phase without ever discussing with the experts what their possible testimony would be. (Id.) This resulted in several experts who testified to opinions that were contradictory to the opinions of the other experts called by the defense. Trial counsel also called several experts who had nothing but damaging opinions about Mr. Barwick. To make matters worse, when an expert would give an opinion that was beneficial to Mr. Barwick, trial counsel would move forward without allowing the expert to explain his opinion to the jury. (R. 748; 851-52; 882) Trial counsel's decision to call these experts was so detrimental to Mr. Barwick's case that the State did not cross-examine some of the experts, and the State did not even bother to call their own experts.

A complete record of Mr. Barwick's mental deficiencies,

learning disabilities, and psychological problems was never properly compiled by his trial counsel or presented in Mr. Barwick's defense.

The facts developed at trial and the facts developed at the evidentiary hearing are markedly different. The complete mitigation case for Mr. Barwick was presented at his evidentiary hearing, primarily through the testimony of defense mental health expert Dr. Hyman Eisenstein.¹ Mr. Barwick was born, unexpectedly, on September 29, 1966 in Chicago, Illinois. Mr. Barwick's mother, Emma Jean Barwick, had no knowledge of her pregnancy until a week prior to Mr. Barwick's birth. EH-T53. Mrs. Barwick neither sought nor received any prenatal care. Additionally, due to her apparent lack of knowledge or concern regarding the pregnancy, Mrs. Barwick continued taking birth control pills for the duration of the pregnancy and fetal development. Additionally, Mrs. Barwick abused pharmaceutical drugs throughout her pregnancy, which served to retard fetal development and increase the likelihood of significant brain damage. Emma Jean Barwick also reported falling down the stairs, while pregnant with Mr. Barwick. The father said that she wanted to abort the fetus. Horrifically, Mr. Barwick was abused before he even left his mother's womb. EH -T 53-54. This

¹ As is explained more fully *infra*, Dr. Eisenstein was presented with copious amounts of information relating to Mr. Barwick's severely deprived and abusive childhood, including background records and interviews with numerous family members, as well as with Mr. Barwick himself.

prenatal abuse suffered by Mr. Barwick contributed to the severely dysfunctional, mentally ill, and maladjusted individual evaluated by Dr. Eisenstein.

Ira Barwick, Mr. Barwick's father, habitually abused his wife and seven children, physically and sexually. The marital relationship between Emma Jean Barwick and Ira Barwick, a dominating and abusive ex-con, is best described as explosive and abnormal. Ira Barwick would fly into bitter rage fueled by alcohol which routinely ended with the emotional and physical abuse of his wife and children. Ira Barwick's continual rages and abuse created a continuous and palpable sense of fear in the Barwick household which affected Mr. Barwick, his siblings, and his mother. As a result, no one in the home ever felt safe, particularly Mr. Barwick. EH-T 62-64. Dr. Eisenstein explained,

I think that probably there was such a huge fear factor which was very intermittent, you didn't know when the father was going to be off or what set the father off . . . The man was raging bull but you, it was unpredictable, and children growing up in this environment are fearful, are timid. They lack security and their responses are just way out of kilter because there's no, there's no stability, there's no, there's no consistency other than random terror. EH-T 64.

Dr. Eisenstein further explained that the fear and terror that perpetually permeated the Barwick household was not limited to the child actually receiving the beating. When explaining this pervasive fear Dr. Eisenstein observed:

No, it was constant. I mean, I think that if one received beatings, the other ones were equally, they were equally affected. Um, and I don't think it was all

that clear as to who received the beatings and why. I do know that Darryl received beatings because of his own deficiencies and he, and because of his own, because of all of his limitations. Id.

The thoroughly dysfunctional relationship between Ira and Emma Jean Barwick also involved numerous instances of sexual abuse. The children witnessed their father forcibly raping their mother on several occasions. Dr. Eisenstein testified:

But the father also, the father also would fight over sex with the mother, and they saw, the children saw a very unhealthy situation in terms of the sexual conduct of the parents . . . They often saw the father fight with the mother, struggling over sex in public. They saw that the father was violent with the mother, raped the mother. So the entire situation, um, of the home was where the father was abusive, um, both in a physical sense, um, and also in a sexual sense and without regard to his conduct, without regard to anyone. He just carried on his behavior and would just do whatever he pleased doing and no one was really able to stop him. EH-T 59-60.

Although Ira and Emma Jean Barwick knew that their children witnessed many of their abusive, violent sexual encounters, they did nothing to try and correct or mitigate the situation. Rather, the Barwick parents blatantly failed to acknowledge what the children witnessed, and, more importantly, failed to place sexual contact in the proper context for the children. Unfortunately, this covert sexual abuse had its greatest impact on the youngest and most impressionable child in the household - Darryl Barwick.

The fact that observing their parents' sexual encounters had a profound impact on the cognitive and emotional development of

the Barwick children is undisputed. An exhaustive post-conviction social history investigation revealed that the children unknowingly *learned* from their parents' abnormal sexual relationship. As a result, Mr. Barwick and his siblings acted out the inappropriate and emotionally damaging behavior that they witnessed. Dr. Eisenstein testified regarding the effect of the inappropriate sexual contact between the siblings. Mr. Barwick, who was the youngest and most impressionable of the Barwick children, was the most obviously affected and was the most vulnerable victim of this sexual abuse from having routinely witnessed his parents engage in consensual and non-consensual sex.

Dr. Eisenstein testified that on one occasion, Mr. Barwick and his sister came upon an extensive collection of hard-core pornography hidden away in a loft of their backyard shed. After looking through the large collection of photographs depicting men and women in various sex acts, Mr. Barwick and his older sister began to emulate what they had seen in the pornographic images. When their "discovery" was exposed, Mr. Barwick and his sister were beaten severely. There was also evidence other incidents involving inappropriate sexual contact among the Barwick children. EH-T 61.

Though Ira Barwick physically abused all of his children, he clearly singled out Mr. Barwick for the most extreme physical and

emotional abuse.² EH-T 80. Perhaps because Mr. Barwick was “slow” and young, he suffered the most abuse. Dr Eisenstein cogently observed when questioned as to the birth order affecting the level of abuse suffered by Mr. Barwick:

Well, it's like the trickle down theory, you know, the, everyone blames the youngest for all of the bad things that happen in the family. The vulnerability that Mr. Barwick had because of all of his deficiencies, together with the fact that, you know, they finally, put, blame the youngest, he was an easy target, an easy scapegoat, and I think that because of that he suffered at a greater extent than the rest of them. You know, for everything I have said up to this point and the fact is that that pecking order, that does not mean necessarily just because you are the youngest you can't be successful. You know, it depends on, it depends on, it depends really what you do with, with your given situation. It also depends on the tools you have to deal with the situation and, of course, it deals with the type of encouragement and support that you are given, so those are all significant. Id.

Dr. Eisenstein testified that Mr. Barwick was abused, mocked, taunted, and tormented by his father, not only at home but also at work. EH-T 66-68. On several occasions, Mr. Barwick suffered significant injury to his head resulting from his father's physical rage. Except for one summer where Mr. Barwick worked at a local amusement park, his only form of employment was working for his father doing construction work, as was required of all the boys in the Barwick family. EH-T 67. As a child, and

² As explained more fully below, although some the physical abuse which Mr. Barwick suffered at the hands of his father was presented at trial, post-conviction testimony established that the actual extent **and effect** of this abuse was much more severe and pervasive than the picture presented by trial counsel.

later an adolescent, Mr. Barwick would work alongside his father, brothers, and whatever other men worked for Ira Barwick at the time. Mr. Barwick was viewed by his co-workers and family as a slow, dawdling kid who, unlike his brothers, could not function on the job. Due to his obvious developmental deficits, speech problems, learning disabilities, and aimless nature, Mr. Barwick quickly became the brunt of his father's physical and verbal abuse on the job - just as he was at home. Dr. Eisenstein analyzed the dysfunctional, abusive work situation as follows:

Well, unfortunately, you know, the family business was concrete, concrete business and because of Darryl's limitations he really was not unable (sic) to perform job functions. So if you were able to go to the job site and at least perform the job, so you would at least receive, if you didn't receive negative criticism, at least you just went on doing your job, and you were able to exist. But unfortunately Darryl was unable to complete the task at hand, so not only did he have academic failing he had job failings, and the job failings only then made him more vulnerable for insults and for the, the level of emotional abuse that was meted out to him more than the other brothers because the other brothers at least were capable in terms of completing the required job task. EH-T 67.

Dr. Eisenstein went on to observe that Mr. Barwick was more vulnerable than his brothers because he was singled out for abuse at the job site and because the other brothers were more capable they escaped the level of abuse at the job site that Mr. Barwick suffered. EH-T 67-68.

On one occasion, Ira Barwick, for an unknown reason, picked up a piece of lumber with a protruding piece of "rebar" and struck Mr. Barwick on the left side of his head. Mr. Barwick fell

to the ground unconscious. EH-T 53. His father hit him with the large piece of metal and wood again, this time in the back of his head. EH-T 55. Such abuse happened at work on more than one occasion. The physical abuse was compounded by the emotional abuse Mr. Barwick suffered by his own father beating him in front of his peers. This repeated humiliation further diminished Mr. Barwick's minimal self-esteem. EH-T 67-68.

As aforementioned, while all of the Barwick siblings suffered abuse within the familial unit, Mr. Barwick is easily distinguished - physically, emotionally, and mentally - from his brothers and sisters. All of the family members refer to Mr. Barwick, in general terms, as the "odd one." This differentiation specifically relates to why Mr. Barwick turned out differently from his siblings and they have not been convicted of murder or any sexual violent crimes. Dr. Eisenstein extensively analyzed the differentiation between the siblings and perceptively observed:

Well, there was such, there was so severe emotional abuse that Darryl received. If it wasn't the sexual abuse and physical abuse, the emotional abuse is finally the third prong that really just set him off. He was called stupid, idiot, illiterate dummy, jack ass (sic), son of a bitch, the milkman's son, because Darryl has blonde hair, ass hole (sic), girls, (sic) called whores, sluts. There's nothing, there was nothing that was held back from dehumanizing and the vulgar insulting and the entire psychological fabric of what we refer to as self esteem, (sic) one's make-up in terms of feeling self-worth, confidence, it was all shattered. It was all knocked out. EH-T 65.

Upon further questioning, Dr. Eisenstein observed that the

name calling was constant and that, although many have been called such names it was different for Mr. Barwick. The doctor testified:

Well, the reason it is significant is because some of it has a kernel of truth, which makes it even more hurtful. He was illiterate until the tenth grade, he was stupid. Um, that certainly addresses some huge issues in terms of his academic failings, in terms of his language failings, in terms of the organic problems that I mentioned earlier, um, so when you zero in on, and you depict someone's failings and they are actually true, to a certain extent the level of humiliation and degradation is even greater, **so that was unique to Darryl**. Some of these problems - - (emphasis added).
EH-T 66.

In addition to being the youngest, Mr. Barwick was easy to manipulate due to his learning disabilities and his being "slow natured." EH-T 80-81. This dynamic was not lost on Mr. Barwick, who remembers always feeling "like a pig [sic] in a cage, being tested and stuff." His older brothers would sometimes use Mr. Barwick as a buffer between their misdeeds and their father. They believed that they could decrease the likelihood of severe beatings by offering up Mr. Barwick up "as sacrifice." On one particular occasion Mr. Barwick "took the fall" for the actions of his older brother William. His father, in a drunken rage, ripped a post off of his bed and beat Mr. Barwick with it. The first blow was to Mr. Barwick's head causing him to, once again, lose consciousness. On his fall to the ground, Mr. Barwick hit the temple area of his head on the corner of the living room coffee table.

In addition to being beaten by his father, Mr. Barwick's mother would also engage in bizarre, excessive discipline of her youngest son. During the summers, when all seven of her children were at home, Emma Jean Barwick would "lock" the kids out of the house forcing them to stay in the back yard where the fences were locked. The Barwick children aptly referred to the back yard as the "prison." At lunchtime, Mrs. Barwick would leave them food at the back door. If they got thirsty while playing in the hot Florida sun, they were forced to drink from the hose which hung on the back side of the small concrete block house. If they interrupted their mother or left the confines of the back yard, Mrs. Barwick would tell their father, whom the kids referred to as "The Enforcer" because he would act on Mrs. Barwick's information. EH-T 61, 68-69. In addition to the private pain of being physically, emotionally, and sexually abused at home, Mr. Barwick had to endure the increasing demands of school, where he felt "stupid" and extremely awkward. EH-T 34, 69-75. A primary source of his uneasiness stems from his borderline intellectual functioning, which manifested itself early in Mr. Barwick's life. Id. Another primary source of his negative feelings toward school is the combination of his learning disabilities and speech pathology - an impairment described by most teachers and counselors as "severe," which made his speech "difficult to understand." Id.

Dr. Eisenstein's review of Mr. Barwick's school records and

reports from early psychological testing³ indicated severe learning and adaptive deficits which undoubtedly hampered his ability to conform to the world around him. His grade school records indicate clear problems related to his maturity, speech impairments, and learning disabilities. Yet despite his well-established limitations and deficits, he was promoted year after year. This advancement was despite several semesters in junior high and high school where the only above average grades earned by Mr. Barwick were in physical education. Dr. Eisenstein, when discussing Mr. Barwick's long-standing disabilities, tellingly observed:

So from the very early age he had difficulties, um, and he was passed on from grade to grade, he was never held back, but when one looks at the scores he basically had Ds, some Cs. There was some recommendation in remediation for both reading and mathematics, he was in a special class, but he was always promoted. There was never, the issues were really never addressed.

I think the, the way he was able to get through school is that he was, he was, he was a jock and he was very good on the sports team, so he was in the school wrestling, as well as the football team, and I think basically as long as he, he did a decent job in sports and wrestling and football, he was just promoted through his school. They kept him in school without really addressing his issues. EH-T 70-71.

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