IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DARRYL BRIAN BARWICK,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC07-1831

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

_____/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS PL-01, THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

Barwick asked Ms. Dom what she would do if she saw him on the street. She told him she would look the other way and hoped he would do the same. (TR Vol. XXII 617).

Barwick left. Ms. Dom locked the door and called her mother. (TR Vol. XXII 618). Her mother and her mother's boss came immediately to her apartment.

Her mother's boss called the police. Ms. Dom identified Barwick as her assailant from a photographic line-up. (TR Vol. XXII 618-619).

Ms. Dom's testimony provided circumstantial evidence of Barwick's motive to kill Ms. Wendt. Barwick had been previously tricked into believing he would not go to prison because his victim would not call the police. Ms. Dom convinced Barwick that, despite his concern she had seen his face, she would pretend the incident never happened. Barwick was fooled once. He would not fooled again.

Apart from Ms. Dom's testimony, the State presented direct evidence that Barwick's motive was to eliminate Ms. Wendt as a witness and to avoid arrest. This evidence was Barwick's own confession that he killed Ms. Wendt because she saw his face and he did not want to go back to prison.¹⁸

William Barwick, Darryl Barwick's brother, told the jury that Barwick confessed to him that he killed Rebecca Wendt.

¹⁸ <u>Philmore v. State</u>, 820 So.2d 919, 935 (Fla. 2002) (ruling that a confession that witness elimination was the motive for the murder is direct evidence of the avoid arrest aggravating circumstance); <u>Walls v. State</u>, 641 So. 2d 381, 390 (Fla. 1994) (holding that a confession is direct evidence of motive and that a confession that witness elimination was the reason for the murder satisfies this aggravating circumstance).

William testified Barwick told him he killed Rebecca because "when he was struggling with her and she took his mask off, when he seen her, when she seen his identity he didn't want to go back to where he came from, from prison, from... that's why he said he did it." (TR Vol. XXII 630, 634).

The circumstances of Barwick's prior violent sexual assault on another young woman under nearly identical circumstances, his stint in prison because of it, and Barwick's statement to his brother that he killed Ms. Wendt because she saw his face and he did not want to go back to prison, provided competent substantial murdered evidence that Barwick Ms. Wendt to eliminate a witness and avoid arrest. Schoenwetter v. State, 931 So. 2d 857, 874 (Fla. 2006); Nelson v. State, 850 So. 2d 514, 526-527 (Fla. 2003) (Nelson's admissions to police, including statement that he killed the victim because he thought she could identify would, alone, support his intentional elimination of a witness). As such, the State was entitled to have the jury instructed on the aggravator. Floyd v. State, 850 So. 2d 383, 405 n. 33 (Fla. 2002) (where competent substantial evidence exists to support an aggravator it is not error for the trial judge to instruct the jury on the aggravator).

As there was competent substantial evidence to support both the jury instruction and the trial judge's finding the murder was committed to avoid arrest, trial counsel cannot be deemed

ineffective for failing to "adequately" object or to argue more fiercely against the aggravator. This claim should be denied. <u>Mungin v. State</u>, 932 So.2d 986, 997 (Fla. 2006) (counsel is not ineffective for failing to raise a meritless objection).

ISSUE VII

WHETHER BARWICK WAS DENIED A PROPER DIRECT APPEAL AND EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF POST-CONVICTION COUNSEL DUE TO OMISSIONS IN THE RECORD (RESTATED)

In his initial brief, Barwick presents no argument in support of his claim he was deprived of a proper direct appeal because of unidentified omissions in the record. (IB 80). Barwick does not identify either the legal grounds upon which he bases this claim or the portions of the record he alleges were improperly omitted.

While Barwick does cite to certain page numbers of the initial trial record, he does not explain what "error or omission" is revealed on these particular pages.¹⁹ (IB 80). Indeed, he does not explain at all how these citations are relevant to the claim he brings to this Court.

Instead, Barwick invites this Court to comb through the appellate record and determine on its own what was improperly

¹⁹ For instance R.17 is a page from Barwick's sentencing hearing. During that hearing, trial counsel refers to "the bailiff" situation and acknowledges the court held a hearing on the issue (a juror caught a ride home with the bailiff but neither discussed the case at all) right before the penalty phase commenced. That hearing is in the record.

omitted. He also asks this Court to refer to his state habeas petition and "incorporate" those arguments in his initial brief. (IB 80, n. 14). This Court should decline Barwick's invitation and rule that Barwick has waived or abandoned this claim. *See* <u>Simmons v. State</u>, 934 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 2007), quoting <u>Duest v.</u> <u>Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990)("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived.").

Even if this Court were to consider this issue, a claim alleging omissions of the record on direct appeal is procedurally barred in collateral proceedings. Thompson v. State, 759 So.2d 650 (Fla. 2000). Moreover, Barwick is not entitled to relief on a claim that post-conviction counsel was ineffective because of omissions in the record. A claim of ineffective assistance of post-conviction counsel is not cognizable in Florida. Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247, 248 (Fla. 1996).

ISSUE VIII

WHETHER BARWICK'S JURY WAS MISLED BY COMMENTS AND INSTRUCTIONS WHICH UNCONSTITUTIONALLY AND INACCURATELY DILUTED ITS SENSE OF RESPONSIBILITY FOR SENTENCING IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION (RESTATED)

In his initial brief, Barwick presents no argument in support of his claim the jury was misled by comments that diluted its sense of responsibility for its sentencing role in this capital case. Indeed, he does not even identify the comments about which he takes issue.

Instead, he merely points to places in the trial record where trial counsel referred to the jury's sentence as a "recommendation". (IB 80). Moreover, while Barwick purports to present a substantive claim of error (a <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>²⁰ claim), Barwick's "argument" presents an allegation that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to unspecified "diluting" comments. (IB 80).

Rather than presenting any argument to support his claim of substantive error and ineffective assistance of counsel, Barwick asks this court to consider the arguments he made on this same issue in his state petition for habeas corpus. This is improper. Barwick has waived this claim by attempting to incorporate, by reference, his claims and arguments made in his

²⁰ <u>Caldwell v. Mississippi</u>, 472 U.S. 320, 105 S. Ct. 2633, 86 L. Ed. 2d 231 (1985)

habeas petition. See <u>Simmons v. State</u>, 934 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 2007), quoting <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990)("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived.").

Even if this Court were to consider this issue, Barwick is not entitled to relief. This is so for two reasons.

First, the claim is procedurally barred. This claim can and should be raised on direct appeal. Barwick did not, however, raise this as a claim of error on direct appeal from his 1992 convictions and sentence to death. <u>Barwick v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 685, 690 n.9 (Fla. 1995). Failure to do so acts as a procedural bar in collateral proceedings. <u>Jones v. State</u>, 928 So. 2d 1178, 1183 n.5 (Fla. 2006)(holding <u>Caldwell</u> claim procedurally barred because not raised on direct appeal). Moreover, this Court has consistently held it will not consider such procedurally barred claims under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel.

This claim is also without merit. This Court has repeatedly denied the same claim Barwick presents here. <u>Miller</u> <u>v. State</u>, 926 So. 2d 1243, 1257 (Fla. 2006) (rejecting claim that instruction diluted the jury's responsibility by labeling

their penalty phase verdict as advisory and not binding); <u>Dufour</u> <u>v. State</u>, 905 So.2d 42 (Fla. 2005) (noting that this Court has repeatedly determined that challenges to the standard jury instructions that refer to the jury as advisory and to the jury's verdict as a recommendation, on the grounds they violate Caldwell v. Mississippi, are without merit).

Because Barwick's claim is without merit, his ineffective assistance of counsel claim must also fail. Counsel is not ineffective for failing to make a meritless objection. <u>Mungin</u> <u>v. State</u>, 932 So.2d 986, 997 (Fla. 2006) (counsel is not ineffective for failing to raise a meritless objection).

ISSUE IX

WHETHER BARWICK WAS DEPRIVED OF A FAIR TRIAL BECAUSE THE PROSECUTOR'S ARGUMENTS PRESENTED IMPERMISSIBLE CONSIDERATIONS TO THE JURY AND WHETHER TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE FOR FAILING TO OBJECT TO THE PROSECUTOR'S IMPROPER ARGUMENTS (RESTATED)

In his initial brief, Barwick presents no argument in support of his claim he was deprived of a fair trial because the prosecutor's arguments allowed the jury to consider matters it was not permitted to consider. Barwick does not even identify the alleged "impermissible considerations." Likewise, Barwick presents no argument that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the prosecutor's arguments. (IB 81-82).

Rather than presenting any argument to support his claim of substantive error and/or ineffective assistance of counsel,

Barwick asks this court to consider the arguments he made on this same issue in his state petition for habeas corpus. This is improper. Barwick has waived this claim by attempting to incorporate, by reference, his claims and arguments made in his habeas petition. See <u>Simmons v. State</u>, 934 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 2007), quoting <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990)("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived.").²¹

This Court should deny this claim. <u>Coolen v. State</u>, 696 So. 2d 738, 742 n. 2 (Fla. 1997)(failure to fully brief and argue issues raised on appeal constitutes a waiver of these claims).

²¹ Because Barwick has not identified any improper comments or incidents of prosecutorial misconduct in this claim, the State has no opportunity to fairly respond to this claim. The State did fully respond to this same claim made in Barwick's habeas petition. In his petition, Barwick identified the comments about which he claims constituted error.

However, insofar as Barwick raises a claim here of substantive error, the claim is procedurally barred. Claims of prosecutorial misconduct can and should be raised on direct Knight v. State, 923 So. 2d 387, 393 n.6 (Fla. 2005) appeal. (rejecting a claim regarding improper prosecutorial comments made during closing arguments as procedurally barred in a postconviction motion for failure to raise on direct appeal); Harvey v. Dugger, 656 So. 2d 1253, 1256 (Fla. 1995) (stating that issues that could have been but were not raised on direct appeal or issues that were raised and rejected on direct appeal are not cognizable through collateral attack).

ISSUE X

WHETHER BARWICK WAS DEPRIVED OF A FAIR TRIAL WHEN THE COURT INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON THE "IN THE COURSE OF A FELONY" AGGRAVATOR (RESTATED)

initial brief, Barwick presents no argument In his in support of his claim he was deprived of a fair trial when the court instructed the jury on the "in the course of a felony aggravator. Nor does he present any argument in support of a claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the instruction. (IB 82). Barwick has waived this claim by attempting to incorporate, by reference, his claims and arguments made in his habeas petition. See Simmons v. State, 934 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 2007), quoting Duest v. Dugger, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990)("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merelv making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived.").

Even if this Court were to decide this claim, it is without merit for two reasons. First, the claim is procedurally barred in these collateral proceedings. Claims regarding the adequacy or constitutionality of jury instructions should be raised on direct appeal. <u>Thompson v. State</u>, 759 So. 2d 650, 665 (Fla. 2000) (stating that substantive challenges to jury instructions are procedurally barred in post-conviction challenges because

the claims can and therefore should be raised on direct appeal). Moreover, this Court has consistently held it will not consider such procedurally barred claims under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel.

This claim may also be denied because it is without merit. This Court has consistently rejected attacks on this mitigator. See Blanco v. State, 706 So.2d 7, 12 (Fla. 1997) ("in the course of a felony aggravator" does narrow the class of death-eligible defendants); Miller v. State, 926 So.2d 1243, 1260 (Fla. 2006) (rejecting Miller's claim that Florida's capital sentencing scheme is unconstitutional because it provides for an automatic aggravating circumstance and neither "narrows the class of persons eligible for the death penalty" nor "reasonably justifies the imposition of a more severe sentence on the defendant compared to others found guilty of murder."); Freeman v. State, 761 So.2d 1055, 1067 (Fla. 2000) (finding no merit to the argument that an underlying felony cannot be used as an aggravating factor); Thompson v. State, 759 So.2d 650, 656, 666 (Fla. 2000) (rejecting a claim the murder in the course of a sexual battery instruction was unconstitutionally vague).

In accord with the well-established jurisprudence of this state, Barwick's constitutional attacks on this statutory aggravator, as well as its standard jury instruction, is without merit. Accordingly, trial counsel is not ineffective for

failing to make a meritless objection. <u>Mungin v. State</u>, 932 So.2d 986, 997 (Fla. 2006) (counsel is not ineffective for failing to raise a meritless objection).

ISSUE XI

WHETHER FLORIDA'S PENALTY PHASE INSTRUCTIONS UNCONSTITUTIONALLY SHIFT THE BURDEN TO THE DEFENDANT TO DEMONSTRATE A LIFE SENTENCE IS APPROPROATE AND IMPERMISSIBLY CREATE A PRESUMPTION OF DEATH (RESTATED)

In his initial brief, Barwick presents no argument in support of his claim his death sentence is unconstitutional because Florida's standard penalty phase instructions unconstitutionally shift the burden to the defendant to prove that a life sentence is appropriate and impermissibly creates a presumption of death. Nor does he present any argument in support of a claim that counsel was ineffective for failing to object to the instructions. (IB 83).

Barwick has waived this claim by attempting to incorporate, by reference, his claims and arguments made in his habeas petition. See <u>Simmons v. State</u>, 934 So. 2d 1100 (Fla. 2007), quoting <u>Duest v. Dugger</u>, 555 So.2d 849, 852 (Fla. 1990)("The purpose of an appellate brief is to present arguments in support of the points on appeal. Merely making reference to arguments below without further elucidation does not suffice to preserve issues, and these claims are deemed to have been waived.").

Even if this Court were to decide this claim, it is without merit for two reasons. First, the claim is procedurally barred. Claims regarding the adequacy or constitutionality of jury instructions should be raised on direct appeal. Thompson v. State, 759 So. 2d 650, 665 (Fla. 2000) (stating that substantive challenges to jury instructions are procedurally barred in postconviction challenges because the claims can and therefore should be raised on direct appeal). Moreover, this Court has consistently held it will not consider such procedurally barred claims under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel. See Rodriguez v. State, 919 So. 2d 1252, 1280 (Fla. 2005) (stating that claims that could have been raised on direct appeal cannot be relitigated under the guise of ineffective assistance of counsel). See also Israel v. State, 985 So. 2d 510, 520 (Fla. 2008).

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